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SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION

1. LICENSEE/LOCATION INSPECTED: ‘2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE )

CV! Technologies, LLC

2870 North Berkeley Lake Road, Suite 3 U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Dututh, GA 30096 Regilon [, 2100 Ronaissance Bivd, Suite 100

King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406-2713

REPORT NUMBER(S) 2019001
3. DOCKET NUMBER(S) 4. LICENSE NUMBER(S) 5. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION

04038405 04-35504-01E 6/27/2019, 10/15/2019
LICENSEE:

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to racliation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your licanse. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of
procedures end representative records, interviews with parsonnel, and observations by the Inspector. The inspection findings are &8 follows:

! 1. Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified.
| 2. Previous violation(s) closed.

3. The violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector ax non-cited violations, are not being cited bacause they were seil-
identifiad, non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, to
exercise discretion, were satisfied.

Non-cited violation(s) were discussed Involving the following requirement(s) ard corrective action(s):

E] 4. During this inspection. certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, wers in violation of NRC requirements and are bﬁlng
cited in accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to posting in
accordance with 10 CFR 19.11. {Violations and Corrective Actions) ,

See continuation sheet.

B mont of Cbrr . "lvb' Adtlt;ﬁd e e e
| hereby state that, within 3D days, the actions describad by me to the inspector will be taken to corract

the violations Identiﬁod. This statement of -
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already ‘
date when full compliance will be achieved). | understand that no further written responee to NRC wil

taken, comrective sisps which will be taken, | 1
be required, unless specifically requested. -
. The T Printed Name Signaturs 1 Date
LICENSEE'S REPRESENTATIVE | Liang You, CEO '

NRG INSPECTOR Leonardo Wardrobe

BRANCH CHIEF

Anne DeFrancisco

SUNSI Review Completed By: /RA/ LWardrobe Ib o - (!
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10 CFR 40.53 states in part that each person licensed under § 40.52 shall file a report with the Director,
Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards by an appropriate mettod listed in § 40.5(a) on products
transferred to other persons for use under § 40.13(c) or equivalent regulztions of an agreement state.

Contrary to the above as of June 27, 2019, the licensee failed to file a report with the Director, Office of
Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards by an appropriate method listed in § 40.5(a) on products transferred
to other persons for use under § 40.13(c) or equivalent regulations of an agreement state. Specifically the
licensee failed to file a report, for transferring welding rods to other persons for use under § 40.13(c) or
equivalent regulations of an agreement state, with the NRC for calendar yvear 2018.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Enforcement Policy 6.3)

The licensee submitted a report to the inspector on October 6, 2019 and that report was forwarded to the
Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards on October 15, 2019. The licensee stated that they will put
a notice on their Microsoft Office calendar to provide a reminder to submit the annual report by January 31t
of each year.
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